DEA RESEARCH DISCUSSION PAPER Number 82 January 2010

Communal conservancies and household welfare in Namibia

Sushenjit Bandyopadhyay, Juan Carlos Guzman & Selma Lendelvo



Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Private Bag 13306, Windhoek, Namibia Tel: + 264 (0)61 249 015 Fax: + 264 (0)61 240 339 email: pmuteyauli@yahoo.co.uk http://www.met.gov.na

This series of Research Discussion Papers is intended to present preliminary, new or topical information and ideas for discussion and debate. The contents are not necessarily the final views or firm positions of the Ministry of Environment and Tourism. Comments and feedback are welcomed.

Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the GEF (Global Environment Facility) through the World Bank, and the Government of Sweden through the World Bank Environment Department. It was managed by the Ministry of Environment and Tourismøs ICEMA (Integrated Community-Based Ecosystem Management) Project team. It was further supported in various ways by the Governments of Namibia, United States of America (USAID), Sweden (Sida), and Britain (DFID). We are grateful to Jo Tagg, Teofilus Nghitila and Kirk Hamilton for guiding and facilitating the process, and to the Social Impact Analysis and Policy Analysis Corporation (SIAPAC) Namibia for carrying out the field survey. Jon Barnes, Marie Karaisl, David Cownie, Randolph Mouton and Nico Willemse gave essential advice on survey design. We are especially grateful to all the many community households and community representatives who gave information during the survey. Opinions and recommendations expressed in this paper are not necessarily those of these contributors. The authors are responsible for all errors and omissions.

Cover illustration by Nangombe Kapanda Edited by J. Barnes and V. Shigwedha

Contact Details: Sushenjit Bandyopadhyay and Juan Carlos Guzman: Environment Department, The World Bank 1818 H Street, NW Washington, DC 20433 USA Email: <u>sbandyopadhyay@worldbank.org</u>

Selma Lendelvo

Social Science Division, Multidisciplinary Research Centre University of Namibia Private Bag 13301 Windhoek Namibia

Table of Contents

Abstract
1. Introduction
2. General background on community conservancies in Namibia
2.1 Kunene and Caprivi conservancies7
2.1.1 Kunene
2.1.2 Caprivi
2.1.3 Control areas
3. Data and framework
3.1 Data
3.2 Framework
3.2.1 Consumption
3.2.2 Working-Leser Engel12
3.2.3 Determinants of participation
4. Results
4.1 Are households inside conservancies better off than those outside?
4.2 What makes a household have a member participating in the conservancy? 15
4.3 Do participants in conservancies extract more benefits than non-participants?16
5. Conclusion
6. References
Appendix Tables

List of Tables

Table 1: Average household characteristics by conservancy status, Kunene and Caprivi: Namibia 2006

Table 2: Average conservancy household characteristics living in conservancy by participation in the conservancy, Kunene and Caprivi: 2006

Table 3: Results for the effect of conservancy in household welfare in Kunene and Caprivi: 2006

Table 4: Results on the effect of having a household member participating in the conservancy, Kunene and Caprivi:2006

Appendix Tables

Table 5: Model results for the effects of conservancies on household welfare in Caprivi and Kunene: 2006

Table 6: Model results for effect of having a member participating in the conservancy, Kunene

Table 7: Model results for effect of having a member participating in the conservancy, Caprivi

Abstract

Communal conservancies in Namibia aim to combine nature conservation with economic empowerment of rural households. By looking at households inside and outside conservancies, this study advances the knowledge of the impact of community based natural resource management on household welfare. This study distinguishes between the pure conservancy effect and the effect of other community based organizations. It seeks to answer three questions: (a) Are households living in conservancies better off than those living outside? (b) Who participate in conservancy activities and are the wealthier households more likely to participate? (c) Are the benefits reaching all the community or only those households that participate in the conservancy?

Within conservancies, wealth or assets are not associated with household participation in conservancies in Kunene. In Caprivi, where an average household has relatively less assets, the probability of participation in conservancy is positively associated with assets. The study suggests that, wealth and participation in conservancy activities are related in an inverted U shape. In Kunene, an average household is near the turning point with no association between wealth and participation. In Caprivi, an average household is much below the turning point with positive association between wealth and participation.

On average consumption in a conservancy household is significantly higher when compared with those in the control area in Kunene. In Kunene, household characteristics like education, wealth, and CBO membership explain much of the differences in welfare. The conservancy in itself, without CBO and other factors has no pure effect on households living in conservancies, and the welfare impact of conservancy as an institution on households is not direct and automatic.

The study shows that participation in conservancy activities has large and measurable welfare benefits. Other things being equal, the participating households are associated with more than double consumption per capita as compared with non-participating households in both Kunene and Caprivi.

A household's membership of other CBOs is associated with a direct increase in welfare and a higher likelihood of participation in conservancy activities leading to further welfare gains. In Caprivi, membership of CBOs and conservancies separately do not appear to have significant welfare benefits, but together memberships of both the CBOs and conservancies make a difference in household welfare.

Welfare benefits from participation are widespread in Kunene with two thirds of the households in conservancies reporting to be participants. In contrast, only one in five households living in the conservancies in Caprivi participates in conservancy activities and is associated with the consumption benefits from participation. The challenge in Kunene is to find ways for the remaining one third of the households to get actively involved and benefit from the conservancy and other CBO activities. The challenge in Caprivi is to increase households' membership in other CBO as well as participation in conservancy activities. A higher participation rate would allow a wider set of households to benefit from conservancies in this Region.

This study has two policy implications. First, the synergic relationships between community conservancies and other CBOs are to be supported and strengthened to let households benefit from conservancies. Second, the management policies of conservancies that allow more conservancy residents to actively participate in the conservancy activities are to be encouraged.

1. Introduction

Most community-based wildlife management programs try to meet at least two complex goals: conservation of nature, and economic empowerment of rural households. The key to accomplishing these two objectives is by involving local communities in both the conservation and the economic benefits from wildlife (Hulme and Murphree 2001).

For example, at the beginning of the conservancy project in Namibia, the communities became actively involved in conservation when they noticed alarmingly low levels of wildlife during the 1980s drought. Wildlife recovered from that point on. As a result of the symbiotic relationship between communities through conservancies, national parks, the government, and NGOs, wildlife enjoys a larger area where it is able to survive (NACSO, 2005).

It is not clear that households benefit from community-based natural resource management (CBNRM) programs, despite the fact that these programs have become an important strategy to promote sustainable use and conserve biodiversity in Africa during the past two decades. The fact that local communities have rights to the wildlife and can form joint ventures with tourist enterprises might give the impression that households can command higher income. However, Mulonga and Murphy (2003) show that revenue to conservancies has been distributed in different modalities: village-level payouts; individual cash payouts to registered members; conservancy social funds; and expenditures on social services. The direct financial impact on household livelihoods of the distributed revenue is modest, especially in the context of village-level payouts. The payouts used for developmental purposes can have an indirect positive impact at the household level, but it is the individual cash payouts to registered members that have a greater potential to produce an immediate, direct financial benefit to household livelihoods.

This paper seeks to answer three questions by using consumption expenditure data¹: (a) Are households living in conservancies better off than those living outside? (b) Among those living in conservancies, who actively participate in conservancy activities? Are the wealthier households more likely to participate? (c) And are benefits reaching the whole community, or only those households that participate in the conservancy?

This study improves upon a previous study by Bandyopadhyay et al (2004) in two major ways. First, Bandyopadhyay et al (2004) only looked at households inside conservancies without considering how other households fared in the region. By looking at households inside and outside communal conservancies, this study advances knowledge of the impact of CBNRM on household welfare. Second, the previous study was unable to identify and isolate the impact of other non government organizations (NGO) which supports community based organizations (CBOs) in conservancies. We looked at a large variety of CBOs such as water-point committees, farmersø groups, womenøs groups, wood carving, beekeeping and basket making groups. This study controls for the effects of such CBOs on households and tries to measure true impact of communal conservancies on household welfare net of the influence of other CBOs.

¹ For the remainder of the paper we will use the term consumption to refer to consumption expenditure. We prefer the word consumption to just expenditure since we include self-consumption of home production in our calculations.

The paper is divided into five sections. In the next section, we provide a background of the community-based wildlife management program in Namibia and in the two specific regions we examined. In the third section, we present the framework and data. In the fourth section we discuss results. Finally, in the last section, we offer some conclusions.

2. General background on community conservancies in Namibia

The origin of community conservancies dates back to 1967 when Namibian colonial authorities granted white commercial farmers conditional rights over certain wildlife species. The Nature Conservation Ordinance of 1967 enabled freehold farmers to hunt, sell, capture and/or relocate wildlife according to their own economic interests. By 1968, freehold farmers had legal rights to utilize certain wildlife on their farms, including consuming them as food. Landowners also pooled their land and financial resources to establish large units on which integrated management could be practiced (Sullivan, 2002; Long, 2004). According to Sullivan (2002), the -conservancyø concept evolved in the 1970s in South Africa as a means of consolidating exclusive rights over animal wildlife by white farmers in commercial areas. This was done largely through the employment of game guards to militate against -poachingø by black African neighbours (Sullivan, 2002).

In 1995, the post-independence government laid out a set of progressive access rules for communal lands: First, the creation of the Wildlife Management, Utilization and Tourism Policies of 1995; and second, the new Nature Conservation Amendment Act of 1996. The Policy draws from the experience of CAMPFIRE in Zimbabwe and the freehold farms that demonstrated that some rights over wildlife and the opportunity to benefit could promote better management (Long, 2004). Therefore, the main aim of the Policy of 1995 was to give residents of communal areas (living on state land) some rights over wildlife and tourism like those of commercial farmers. The Policy also explored the possibility of rural communities entering into local business arrangements to improve their living conditions. The Act of 1996 sets the formation of communal conservancies as a condition upon which ownership and use rights over game are given to communal area residents; therefore, it puts into effect the Policy of 1995.

Community conservancies complement the ecosystem and biodiversity benefits that are provided by Namibiaøs protected area system. About 36 percent of all communal land in Namibia fell within communal conservancies by the end of 2005. Thirteen percent of that total belongs to conservancies, 6 percent to freehold conservancies and the remaining 17 percent consists of national parks and game reserves. In addition, conservancy boundaries usually abut national parks, thereby extending the area dedicated to protecting biodiversity.

There is some evidence of benefits for wildlife and the communities living in conservancies. On the one hand, communities have some property rights that give them an incentive to protect the wildlife within their area. On the other hand, these communities could economically exploit and gain from wildlife resource management (Jones and Murphree, 2001). NACSO (2005) reports that, total income from CBNRM increased from about N\$600,000 in 1998 to over N\$19.9 million in 2005.

In addition, communities might expect high returns on conservancy development investment. Barnes et al. (2002) analyzed the financial and economic returns to investments in five conservancies. They found that, at least collectively (at the conservancy level), communities which invest in conservancy development can expect high returns. However, their study did not examine the distributional patterns associated with those returns.

2.1 Kunene and Caprivi conservancies

2.1.1 Kunene

Located in the northwest part of Namibia, Kuneneøs conservancies were born from local communitiesø concern about their wildlife resources. In the mid-1980s, wildlife including elephants and black rhinos were decreasing at an alarming rate in the region because of drought and heavy poaching by local residents, outsiders, and the government. In response, local traditional leaders (with help from the Nature Conservation authority and local NGOs) appointed part-time community game guards to monitor wildlife. The reduction in poaching as a result of their presence, combined with increased conservation efforts by the government and greater rainfall, enabled wildlife numbers to recover. Efforts were then made to show that wildlife-based tourism could generate income for local people, thereby building support for and broader community participation in the system (NACSO, 2005).

There were 16 conservancies in Kunene by the end of 2005, with livestock, hunting, and tourism as the main sources of income (SIAPAC, 2006). Cattle are the most common type of livestock across the conservancies, while pigs are uncommon in all locations. Crop production in the area is very low, except for Epupa area near the Kunene River, which had significant production levels (SIAPAC, 2006). Joint-venture tourism enterprises are the most common type of enterprise established in the conservancies. Their business is limited mostly to trophy hunting, and campsites.

A few conservancies have other sources of income, such as traditional village craft markets (Ehirovipuka, Puros), or resin cultivation and extraction projects (Orupembe, Ozondundu, Sanitatas) (NASCO, 2005).

2.1.2 Caprivi

Located in the panhandle north-eastern region of Namibia, like Kuneneøs conservancies, Capriviøs conservancies were born out of the local residentsø concern about the decreasing stock of wildlife during the 1980s. The regions of Caprivi and Kunene were pioneers in the involvement of local communities in the conservation of wildlife, and serve as models for current community-based wildlife management programs in Namibia.

There are fewer conservancies established in Caprivi: seven in total by the end of 2005. In contrast to Kunene, the environment is appropriate for agriculture. Besides livestock, crop production is a common activity in the area and maize is widely cultivated. Mahangu (pearl millet), sorghum, and beans are also cultivated, but their extent varies across conservancies (SIAPAC, 2006).

As in Kunene, joint-venture tourism enterprises are the most common businesses in the conservancies. They offer mostly trophy hunting and campsites. Conservancies also benefit from selling thatch-grass (NASCO, 2005).

2.1.3 Control areas

Control areas in this study are areas outside conservancies used as benchmarks. In principle, control areas should have all the characteristics of its neighbouring communal conservancies except for the CBNRM institution. Since natural resource, and economic characteristics of the Kunene and Caprivi regions are very different the analysis of conservancies in these regions require separate control areas in each region.

One area in each region was selected to serve as our control areas. In Kunene, Epupa area was selected. This area is located at the northern part of Kunene region in Kaokoland. The Epupa area shares similar environmental features to those of the conservancies in Kunene. It is close to the national natural reserve and to the Kunene River that crosses the Region.

In Caprivi, the Kabulabula was selected as control area. This area is in the eastern edge of the Caprivi panhandle of Namibia and borders with the Salambala conservancy. Like the conservancies in Caprivi region the Kabulabula control area is characterized by the floodplains of the Chobe and Zambezi Rivers. In both the control areas, Epupa and Kabulabula, tourist enterprises have establishments with similar amenities and entertainment as those found in the conservancies.

3. Data and framework

3.1 Data

We analyze the Socio-Economic Household Survey that was conducted in 2006 for the Integrated Community-Based Eco-System Management (ICEMA) Project. This survey was conducted in the Kunene and Caprivi regions. In Kunene, the conservancies of Purros, Ehirivopuka, #Khoadi/Hôas, and Torra were sampled, along with the control area of Epupa. In Caprivi, the conservancies of Kwandu, Mayuni, Salambala, and Kasika, as well as the control area of Kabulabula were sampled. In total, 965 households were interviewed in 57 communities. The survey had two questionnaires: one for households and another for communities. The household questionnaire collected information on composition, consumption, and experiences with wildlife and conservancies. The community questionnaire collected information about community infrastructure and activities with various NGOs.

Analysis was done separately for Kunene and Caprivi, because there are important economic and geographical differences between the two regions. For example, crop cultivation is practiced in Caprivi thanks to the natural conditions of the region, but Kunene has more livestock. In addition, the conditions in which the survey was conducted in Caprivi were tougher than in Kunene. During the collection phase, extensive floods prevented the team from reaching some communities in Caprivi (SIAPAC, 2006).

In contrast to Caprivi, the Kunene region has a higher level of overall consumption and assets. The average consumption in Kunene conservancies is about 27 percent higher as compared with the Epupa control area in Kunene (Table 1). On the other hand, the average consumption is 15 percent lower in the conservancies as compared with the Kabulabula control area in Caprivi. It would be erroneous to conclude that conservancies have a positive welfare effect in Kunene and a negative one in Caprivi. The differences in welfare in the conservancies and control areas in the two regions may be due to other factors.

 Table 1: Average household characteristics by conservancy status, Kunene and Caprivi: Namibia

 2006

		Kur	nene		Caprivi				
Characteristics	Overall	Epupa	Conser- vancies		Overall	Kabula -bula	Conser- vancies		
Annual per capita consumption N\$	7870	6499	8286	*	3273	3705	3142		
Share annual expenditure in education	2.8%	0.7%	3.5%	***	3.5%	3.1%	3.6%		
Share annual expenditure in food	51%	58%	48%	***	51%	53%	50%		
Household assets in Thousand N\$	21.1	31.6	17.9		7.1	6.1	7.4		
Distance to health facility (KM)	31.2	13.5	36.6	***	2.8	1.8	3.1	**	
Distance to police, Government offices (KM)	42.8	20.7	49.6	***	5.8	8.2	5.3		
Distance to road, or public transport (KM)	7.6	5.6	8.1	*	6.9	19.5	3.8	***	
Distance to primary or high school (KM)	18.1	3.4	22.5	***	0.8	0.6	0.9		
Distance to shopping facilities (KM)	24.1	14.4	27.0	***	9.0	13.6	7.7	*	
Household head is older than 18 in 1997	91%	87%	92%		91%	89%	92%		
Proportion of households with CBO member	33%	23%	36%	***	13%	9%	15%	*	
Household natural resources use except wood	59%	76%	54%	***	77%	83%	75%	*	
Wildlife damage to crops, livestock, property	67%	70%	66%		70%	63%	72%		
Years of CBO experience in community	9.5	3.9	11.2	***	5.2	1.7	6.2	***	
Female headed household	35%	41%	33%		34%	22%	37%	***	
Household size	6.2	7.3	5.9	**	5.9	6.1	5.9		
Highest years of Education in HH	6.9	3.6	7.8	***	9.6	10.2	9.4	***	
Age the newest infrastructure	2.7	6.7	1.7	***	6.7	15.3	3.9	***	
Age of household head	49.3	46.3	50.2	*	49.4	49.1	49.5		
Number of children <= 14	2.3	2.4	2.3		2.5	2.5	2.5		
Number of female 15-60	1.5	1.2	1.5	*	1.6	1.6	1.6		
Number of male 15-60	1.4	0.9	1.6	***	1.5	1.5	1.4		
Number of members 61+	1.0	2.8	0.5	***	0.4	0.5	0.4		

Difference is significant at the 1%-level ***, at 5% level **, and 10% level *.

Source: Author's calculation using Namibia Socio-economic Household Survey 2006.

The infrastructure is newer in Kunene than in Caprivi, but the distance to shopping canters, schools, and health facilities is shorter for households in Caprivi (Table 1). Likewise, there are differences between the conservancy households and nonconservancy households in both areas, mainly in infrastructure resources, education level, and participation in Community Based Organizations (CBO).

In Kunene, a simple mean comparison reveals that households living in conservancies have a higher consumption per capita, with the education share of expenditures being higher and the food share lower. This might indicate that they are better off, because it is generally true that, as income rises, other goods become larger parts of the budget while the food share becomes smaller. However, we should take into account the fact that household size is lower in conservancies and they have a higher number of people of working age. Accounting for these variables will be explored in the next section.

	Kunene C	onservanci	es	Caprivi Conservancies			
Characteristics	Non- Partici- pating	Partici -pating		Non- Partici- pating	Partici -pating		
Participation: Member/Non-Member Households	34%	66%		80%	20%		
Annual per capita consumption	7390	8739		3029	3606	*	
Share annual expenditure in education	2.3%	4.1%	***	3.7%	3.0%		
Share annual expenditure in food	49%	48%		50%	48%		
Household assets in Thousand N\$	11.6	21.0	**	7.8	5.8		
Distance to health facility (KM)	32.9	38.4		2.9	3.6		
Distance to police, or government offices (KM)	54.6	47.2	*	5.7	3.9		
Distance to road, or public transport (KM)	7.2	8.6		3.6	4.8		
Distance to primary school, or high school (KM)	27.2	20.2	*	0.9	1.1		
Distance to shopping facilities (KM)	26.6	27.3		8.6	3.9	*	
Household head is older than 18 in 1997	94%	92%		92%	90%		
Households with a member of a CBO	24%	42%	***	11%	30%	***	
Household collected natural resources except wood	52%	55%		73%	84%	**	
Knows the year of conservancy registration	5%	18%	***	16%	36%	***	
Wildlife damage to crops, livestock, property	56%	72%	***	70%	77%		
Years of CBO experience in community	12.9	10.2	***	6.3	5.9		
Female headed household	27%	36%	*	41%	21%	***	
Household size	4.5	6.6	***	5.7	6.6	**	
Highest years of education in household	6.4	8.6	***	9.3	10.2	***	
Age the newest infrastructure	1.8	1.6		3.9	3.8		
Age of household head	49.5	50.5		49.9	48.0		
Number of children 0-14	1.5	2.7	***	2.4	2.8	*	
Number of female 15-60	1.1	1.7	***	1.5	1.7		
Number of male 15-60	1.4	1.7	*	1.4	1.7	**	
Number of members 61+	0.4	0.5		0.4	0.4	0.4	

 Table 2: Average conservancy household characteristics living in conservancy by participation in the conservancy, Kunene and Caprivi: 2006

Difference is significant at the 1%-level ***, at 5% level **, and 10% level *.

Source: Author's calculation using Namibia Socio-economic Household Survey 2006.

Participation in conservancy activities allows households to play an active role in the natural resource managements and may also allow welfare benefits. In theory, all households living within a conservancy are members of the conservancy. However, different households may participate in conservancy activities at different levels.

The most basic level of participation is to recognize the households membership to the conservancy. We define participating households as those reporting at least one conservancy member. The first row of Table 2 shows the participation rate is 66 percent in Kunene and 20 percent in Caprivi respectively. The rest of Table 2 looks at the

characteristics of participating and nonparticipating households within conservancies in Kunene and Caprivi.

Households with members participating in the conservancies have some characteristics that are different from other conservancy households. In Kunene, the participating households have more assets, closer roads, more natural resources, more female-headed households, more educated people, and a younger population. In Caprivi, they have similar differences as in Kunene, but the proportion of female-headed households and the education level is lower in participating households than other households.

3.2 Framework

This paper relies on consumption as a measure of household welfare. By comparing two households with the same characteristics but different total consumption, we infer that the household with higher consumption enjoys higher welfare. In this context, our main objective is to determine if households inside conservancies, and particularly those that have members registered in the conservancy, enjoy higher welfare than other households in the area. As always when evaluating impact, we face several constraints to achieve this objective. We use several techniques to overcome these constraints and obtain the best estimate of the effect.

3.2.1 Consumption

In principle, a simple comparison of means between households living inside/outside conservancies or participating/not participating might be sufficient to determine the effect of the program. This would be enough if households were assigned to the program randomly, but that is not the case. Communities that decide to participate in the project might have characteristics different from communities that stay outside the project. It is important, then, to account for as many characteristics as may possibly influence participation in the program. We can thereby compare households with similar characteristics and determine the \exists trueø effect of the project. Consider the following specification:

$$\ln y_i = \alpha + \beta \ln n_i + \sum \gamma \frac{n_{ij}}{n_i} + \delta C + \eta z_{ii}$$
(1)

where y represents household, i is for consumption expenditure per capita, n is the household size, followed by the proportion of different age groups j in the household. C is an indicator for the household participation in conservancies or as member of the conservancy, and the matrix z contains all relevant characteristics that can account for differences between households.

This specification can be estimated by ordinary least squares (OLS) and under strong assumptions, would give the average difference in welfare between households living in conservancies and households outside them.

The coefficient that we want to estimate is . Using OLS, we are imposing a linear relationship between the participation indicator and the outcome variable. The precision of the estimation of relies also on the assumption that we control for all variables that affect participation in the project and the outcome variable, so that is the net effect of the project.

The parametric restriction imposed by Equation (1) can be relaxed by using an alternative method such as propensity score matching. The propensity score matching method is regarded as one of the nonparametric alternatives when random experimental design is not possible (Rubin, 1973). It is especially useful when using cross-sectional surveys. A minimum of two steps are needed for this method. First, a score is obtained from the predicted probabilities from a probit model that evaluates the likelihood of being in the treatment group (inside conservancy, or including a registered member). The second step consists of finding for each treatment observation a comparison group that is within a determined range of the observationøs score. There are many techniques for determining such a comparison group; we use a kernel approach that gives decreasing weights to comparison observations according to closeness to the treatment observationøs score. However, the results were not robust and we do not report them.

3.2.2 Working-Leser Engel²

As pointed out by Engel, the proportion of total expenditure spent on food is lower in richer households than in poorer households; hence, two households with the same size and structure but different expenditure patterns in foodóóor other goodsóómay express differences in welfare. Although Engeløs relationship still is a matter of debate (see Deaton and Paxon, 1998, 2003; Gan and Vernon, 2003), it is a very widely used framework for studying household expenditure patterns (Deaton, 1997; Deaton and Muellbauer, 1980a), and it adapts well to study the patterns of consumption in our study. In practice, the test of Engeløs observations have yielded many specifications (Deaton and Muellbauer, 1980b), and we work with an adaptation of the one use by Leser (1963) based on Working (1943).

The Working-Leser specification is one of the most widely used method for studying relationships between food (or other goods) share and household characteristics (see Deaton and Muellbauer, 1980a). This functional form meets the following criteria: (i) it is suitable for multiple types of goods; (ii) it allows for increasing, decreasing, and constant marginal propensities to spend over a wide range of expenditure levels; and (iii) it satisfies the additivity criterion, namely, the sum of marginal propensities for all goods should equal unity (Adams, 2006). Its estimation can be done using standard regression techniques.

$$w_{ij} = \frac{p_j q_{ij}}{y_i} = \alpha + \eta \ln\left(\frac{y_i}{n_i}\right) + \beta \ln(n_i) + \sum \gamma \frac{n_{ij}}{n_i} + \delta C + \eta z_{ii}$$
(2)

where w_{ij} is the share of the good j of the total expenditure y_i of household i; in addition, we include the expenditure per capita in the right side to follow the basic Engel curve; the rest remains as in Equation (2).

Because the purpose of this paper is to examine , we again encounter the problems described previously. A major concern in this case, beyond the parametric form, is that the estimation of might be biased if there are unobserved characteristics about households that live inside (or participate in) a conservancy which also affect household

 $^{^2}$ The literature surveyed here refers to household expenditure instead of consumption; we decided to use the term expenditure in this section to be consistent with such literature. In the rest of the paper we use consumption to refer to consumption expenditure as explained in footnote 1

expenditure patterns. This also is a concern regarding the previous estimation; however, this possibility is harder to overcome for the current estimation.

To deal with potential bias in , we use a treatment regression model that allows for the error terms between conservancy participation (selection equation (3) below) and the either of the outcome equations (1) or (2) to be correlated. Ideally, we would have at least one variable included in the selection equation that is not correlated with the outcome variable. In the two cases we analyze in this paper, it was extremely difficult to find such a variable when analyzing the effect of conservancies. The reason for this is two-fold. First, households do not decide individually to participate in a conservancy, rather the community decides as a whole; therefore, the variable that we seek would be at the community level. Second, we have very few communities in the sample compared to the number of households, so any variable identified at the community level does not provide enough variation to be a successful instrument³. Thus; we do not use this method for analyzing the effect of conservancy.

For the second selection model, regarding whether a member of the household participates in the conservancy, we use two instruments: whether the household head was older than 18 in 1997 (before any conservancy was established); and whether the person knows when the conservancy was registered. The first variable seeks to measure whether the household could potentially have participated in the communityøs original decision to form a conservancy. If the household head was an adult then, we can assume it was an established household. The second variable comes from the survey; we think that if a person knows the year the conservancy was registered, he or she is more likely to be an active member of the conservancy, but that knowledge would not have any impact on the expenditure pattern of the household.

There are many other measures by which we could have estimated the welfare of households living in conservancies, but they are beyond the scope of this paper. The main concern regarding this methodology is that of unobservable characteristics at the household and community level which correlate with forming a conservancy or being a member of it. However, we feel confident that we have accounted for those possibilities, given the data we have. Superior techniques to evaluate the effect of communities (such as longitudinal surveys or experiments) are not currently available and they might prove potentially unfeasible.

3.2.3 Determinants of participation

A probit model is used to analyze the determination of participation in the conservancy. The model has the following form:

$$Prob(Participation = 1) = \varphi(\beta X)$$
(3)

where X contains households characteristics used in equation (2) but excludes the proportion of children under 15. We believe the young members of a household may not directly decide on participation in the conservancy membership. X includes the dummy for knowledge of the year the conservancy was registered and also the dummy variable

³ In fact, we tried different variables but they turned out to be very unsuccessful. They either were not significant, or the treatment regression never converged, producing no standard errors

for whether or not the household head was older than 18 in 1997. The first variable is a proxy for the level of awareness and knowledge about the conservancy in the household. The second age variable indicates that the head of the household was an adult when the conservancies were registered. As an adult member of the community, the head of the household may have participated in the initial decision making at the inception of conservancy in the area and hence is more likely to participate in conservancy activities at the time of the survey. With this equation we might also know if participation is linked to household wealth and education level.

4. Results

In this section, we analyze whether households living in conservancies, or households with members who participate in the conservancies, are better off than their counterparts in the control areas, or in non-participating households, respectively. The second analysis is based exclusively on households within conservancies.

4.1 Are households inside conservancies better off than those outside?

The average per capita consumption is higher in the households in the conservancies in Kunene as compared with those in Epupa control area (Table 1). Other factors such as education, household size, consumer durable assets, wildlife damage to crops, livestock and property, CBO membership, and distances to shops and markets, explain much of the differences between conservancies and control area household welfare. The conservancy as an institution in itself without associated other CBO activities does not appear to have any independent impact on the welfare of households living within conservancies (Table 3).

There are no differences in food share between households living in Kunene conservancies and those in Epupa. However, 2 percent higher share of education expenditure is associated with the households living in conservancies as compared with similar households living in Epupa. Given the small share that education occupies in the household budget (Table 1), this difference might not be important.

There are no significant differences in consumption expenditure per capita or education share in Caprivi. The households in conservancies are associated with a lower food share than similar households in Kabulabula. This means that households with similar characteristics spend about 4 percent less per capita on food in conservancies. In other words, two households with the same number of members and age structure and equivalent socio-economic characteristics, but one living in a conservancy and the other in Kabulabula, the one in the conservancy would be worse off.

A larger proportion of households within conservancies were CBO members as compared with the control areas in Kunene and Caprivi (Table 1). The higher proportion of CBO member households within conservancies implies a closer link between conservancies and CBOs in both Kunene and Caprivi. However, like many other factors, the effect of CBOs in Kunene and Caprivi households were different. In Kunene we found a positive overall CBO membership effect on welfare. CBO member households in Kunene, irrespective of being in conservancies or in the Epupa control area were associated with a 26 percent higher per capita consumption. In Caprivi, only CBO member households residing in conservancies were associated with 28 percent higher per capita consumption.

		Kunene		Caprivi				
	Expenditure	Expendi	ture Share	Expenditure	Expenditure Share			
	per capita	Food	Educ.	per capita	Food	Educ.		
Conservancy Dummy	-0.037	-0.001	0.021***	-0.109	-0.041*	-0.001		
	(0.223)	(0.052)	(0.005)	(0.102)	(0.022)	(0.003)		
CBO Member	0.257**							
	(0.101)							
CBO X Conservancy				0.280*				
				(0.152)				
Number observations	431	453	453	466	466	466		

 Table 3: Results for the effect of conservancy in household welfare in Kunene and Caprivi: 2006

Note: .01 - ***; .05 - **; .1 - *;

See Table 5A for full estimation models.

Source: Author's calculation using Namibia Socio-economic Household Survey 2006.

There may be community and wider area based factors that affect household consumption and whether an area is a conservancy or not. With four conservancies and one control area in each region it was not possible to statistically isolate conservancy level variables in the model. The presence of such unobserved variables may make the OLS estimates biased. We tried propensity score-based, kernel-weighted matching of conservancy and control households to identify the average conservancy effect on the households in conservancies. However, the results were not robust and we do not report them.

4.2 What makes a household have a member participating in the conservancy?

In Kunene, households with a member participating in the conservancy are associated with higher education, more participation in other Community Based Organizations (CBO), and are affected more by damage caused by wildlife. These results can be seen in the appendix tables. An additional year of education increases the likelihood of participation by six percent. However, participating in CBO, increases this likelihood by 56 percent. Damage to crops, livestock, and property by wildlife appears to be a major incentive to participate in conservancy. The households that suffer wildlife damages are 79 percent more likely to be conservancy members. On the other hand, new infrastructures in the community are associated with lower participation at the household level, a reduction in the odds by 15 percent.

In Caprivi, household with members participating in the conservancy are associated with more education, CBO membership, farther from health facilities, but household with female heads and asset-rich households are less likely to participate. Thus, the odds to participate in the conservancy increase by 10 percent with each year of education, 109 percent with CBO membership and 5 percent with each kilometer farther from a health facility. The odds that a female-headed household have a member participating are reduced by 82 percent.

Householdøs assets were introduced using a quadratic form, this allows for changes in the likelihood of participation at the ends of the asset distribution. The results show that the likelihood to participate has an inverse-U shape. This means that very asset-poor and asset-rich households have lower odds to have a member in the conservancy. The likelihood of participation rises as the value of consumer durable assets in the household rises to N\$22,700 in Caprivi. Beyond this value the likelihood of participation in conservancies declines. Note, the average value of assets in a conservancy participating household in Caprivi has only N\$5,800. Thus, as wealth, measured by consumer durables, in the average household in Caprivi increases, the household is more likely to participate in conservancy activities.

In contrast, we find no significant effect of assets on likelihood of participation in Kunene. This may be due to the fact that the average value of assets in a conservancy participating household in Kunene conservancies is N\$21,000, and close to the turning point of participation. Thus, in Kunene conservancies, where households are relatively wealthy, participation does not depend on wealth and participation rate is higher than that in Caprivi. In Caprivi, where households are not as wealthy, participation is likely to increase with wealth. At the maximum, a household with N\$22,700 of assets in conservancies in Caprivi will have 38 percent higher odds of participating, as compared with a household with the lowest level of assets.

In general, education and membership in CBO are common determinants to participate in the conservancy. This shows that education gives household the edge to understand that by participating in the conservancies and CBO are important for development. This creates an access barrier since it is possible to imagine that the group that participates in a conservancy feels more õappropriateö to take decisions. Likewise, the membership to CBO might reinforce the need to participate in the conservancy to promote development and monitor the revenue of the conservancy and perhaps obtain a better share of its rents. This last point is explored in the next section.

4.3 Do participants in conservancies extract more benefits than non-participants?

In Kunene, there is no evidence from simple means that households with members who participate in the conservancy have a different level of consumption or food share than other conservancy households. However, simple means reveal that participating households spend more than other households on education as a proportion of total consumption (table 2).

In Caprivi, the consumption per capita is higher in participating households than nonparticipating households, but the food and education shares are not different. As in Kunene, participating households are more educated and larger than non-participating households. This factor could explain the difference in consumption per capita (table 2).

In Kunene and Caprivi, multivariate analysis reveals that participating households are associated with higher consumption per capita than non-participating households that have similar characteristics. However, this increase is not reflected in the food and education shares (table 4). Since participation in conservancies and household consumption can both be affected by many unobservable factors, the OLS estimates can be biased. We tested for the selection bias by jointly estimating the outcome and participation equations and tested for the correlation between the two error terms. The results of running a selection bias correction regression are shown in the rightmost three columns in Table 4. In the case of Kunene, the correlation coefficient is statistically significant in both the consumption expenditure per capita and education share equations. For consumption expenditure per capita, the is negative. This indicates that the initial coefficient was negatively biased. The opposite is true for the education equation.

	Kunene								
		OLS		Selection Model ¹					
	Expenditure per capita	Food Share	Education share	Expenditure per capita	Food Share	Education share			
	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se			
HH Has Conservancy Member	0.319***	0.025	0.013	1.140***	-0.033	-0.068***			
	(0.110)	(0.034)	(0.010)	(0.428)	(0.060)	(0.012)			
ρ				-0.645*	0.179	0.823***			
x2				2.996	1.196	22.847			
Number of observations	351	351	351	351	351	351			
HH Has Conservancy Member	0.346***	-0.044	-0.016**	1.062***	-0.165	-0.021**			
	(0.081)	(0.033)	(0.007)	(0.148)	(0.205)	(0.010)			
ρ				-0.537***	0.389	0.062			
χ2				25.184	0.340	0.397			
Number of observations	351	351	351	351	351	351			

Table 4:	Results	on the	effect of	of having	a]	household	member	participating	in tl	he conservancy	/,
Kunene a	nd Capri	vi: 200	6								

Note: .01 - ***; .05 - **; .1 - *; See Table 6A for the full specification.

Source: Author's calculation using Namibia Socio-economic Household Survey 2006.

Correcting for selection bias, we see that participating households are associated with higher consumption expenditure per capita than non-participating households. According to this specification, households participating in conservancy activities in Kunene are associated with more than double the consumption as compared with nonparticipating households with similar characteristics. Since 66 percent of the conservancy households participate, the majority of households benefit from participation in CBNRM.

The OLS estimate for education share had upward selection bias. The correction for selection bias reveals that participating households in the conservancy are associated with a lower share of their expenditures on education. This makes sense if we consider that participation tends to occur in the more educated households. One possibility is that participants realize that education is not a good investment in conservancies so they stop spending money on it. Although this phenomenon has been seen in other contexts (e.g., education decisions and international migration), it might not explain the positive selection bias we found. Alternatively, participating households may benefit from the training programs in conservancies and spend less on education. In total, these households would spend two percent less on education as compared with households that did not participate in CBNRM activities.

Households participating in conservancy activities are associated with higher consumption as compared with non-participating households in Caprivi. The selection model reveals that the OLS estimation has a downward bias. When we account for the selection bias, and other factors, households participating in conservancy activities in Caprivi are also associated with more than double the consumption as compared with similar non-participating households. However, only 20 percent of households participate in the conservancy in Caprivi. Thus, 80 percent households in Caprivi conservancies are not obtaining the welfare benefits that the participating households receive.

5. Conclusion

There has been almost 20 years since the first conservancy started in 1998 in Namibia. The objectives of protecting biodiversity and wildlife as well as economically empowering rural households gave birth to the conservancies. The assumption was that by giving some wildlife rights to rural households, it would be in their best interest to protect wildlife while increasing their economic potential.

Several accounts from CBNRM and NGOs have shown an increase in biodiversity and restoration of endangered species. In addition, the revenue for some conservancies has increased tremendously since their inception.

Despite this, the evidence that the benefits from the communal conservancy have reached individual households has been limited. This study seeks to improve upon Bandyopadhyay et al (2004). Bandyopadhyay et al (2004) did not find any evidence of elite capture through participation in conservancy activities. The present study supports the previous finding. In the conservancies, an average participating household is less wealthy than an average non-participating household in Kunene and Caprivi. Wealth appears to have no effect on participation in Kunene. In Caprivi, where participation and wealth are low, increase in wealth may increase participation up to a point.

Active participation in conservancy activities is associated with large welfare benefits to the household. Welfare benefits from participation are widespread in Kunene with two thirds of the households in conservancies reporting to be participants. In contrast, only one in five households living in the conservancies in Caprivi participates in conservancy activities and is associated with the consumption benefits from participation.

Unlike the case in previous studies, this study controls for household and community characteristics related to other CBO activities associated with the NGOs operating in rural Namibia. We found a large proportion of households in conservancies were other CBO members. Other CBOs either on their own (in Kunene) or together with conservancies (in Caprivi) were associated with higher household welfare.

The welfare impact of conservancy as an institution on households is not direct and automatic. The benefits are associated with active participation in conservancies and other CBOs. A householdøs membership of other CBOs is associated with a direct increase in welfare and a higher likelihood participation in conservancy activities leading to further welfare gains.

The challenge in Kunene, where already 66 percent of the conservancy households actively participate and derive welfare benefits, is to find ways for the remaining one third of the households to get actively involved and benefit from the conservancy and other CBO activities.

The challenge in Caprivi is to increase householdsø membership in other CBO as well as participation in conservancy activities. A higher participation rate would allow a wider set of households to benefit from conservancies in this Region.

This study has two policy implications. First, the synergic relationships between community conservancies and other CBOs are to be supported and strengthened to let households benefit from conservancies. Second, the management policies of conservancies that allow more conservancy residents to actively participate in the conservancy activities are to be encouraged. Active participation in conservancy membership is associated with higher welfare in both the Regions.

6. References

Adams, R.H. 2006. Remittances, consumption and investments in Ghana. Unpublished Paper, Washington, DC, World Bank.

Bandyopadhyay, S., Humavindu, M.N., Shyamsundar P. & Wang, L. 2004. Do households gain from community-based natural resource management? An evaluation of community conservancies in Namibia, Policy Research Working Paper 3337, June, The World Bank, Washington DC.

Barnes, J. I., MacGregor, J. & Weaver, L.C. 2002. Economic efficiency and incentives for change within Namibiaøs community wildlife use initiatives. *World Development* 30(4): 667-681.

Deaton, A. 1997. *The analysis of household surveys: A microeconometric approach to development policy.* Baltimore and London: Johns Hopkins University Press for the World Bank.

Deaton, A.S. & Muellbauer, J. 1980a. An almost ideal demand system. *American Economic Review* 70(3): 312-326.

Deaton, A.S. & Muellbauer, J. 1980b. *Economics and consumer behaviour*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Deaton, A. & Paxson, C. 2003. Engel's what? A response to Gan and Vernon. *Journal of Political Economy* 111(6): 1378-1381.

Deaton, A. & Paxson, C. 2000. Growth and saving among individuals and households. *Review of Economics and Statistics* 82(2): 212-225.

Gan, L. & Vernon, V. 2003. Testing the Barten model of economies of scale in household consumption: Toward resolving a paradox of Deaton and Paxson. *Journal of Political Economy* 111(6): 1361-1377.

Hulme, D. & Murphree, M. (Eds). 2001. *African wildlife and livelihoods: The promise and performance of community conservation.* Cape Town: David Phillip Publishers.

Long, S.A. 2004. (Ed.) Livelihoods and CBNRM in Namibia: The findings of the WILD Project. Wildlife Integration for Livelihood Diversification (WILD) Project, Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Windhoek.

NACSO/Namibian Association of CBNRM Support Organizations. 2005. Namibiaøs communal conservancies: a review of progress and challenges. NACSO, Windhoek.

Leser, C.E.V. 1963. Forms of Engel Functions. *Econometrica* 31(4): 694-703.

Mulonga, S. & Murphy, C. 2003. Spending the money: The experience of conservancy benefit distribution in Namibia up to mid-2003. DEA Research Discussion Paper 63, Directorate of Environmental Affairs, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Windhoek.

SIAPAC/Social Impact Assessment and Policy Analysis Corporation. 2006. Socioeconomic household survey: Integrated community-based eco-system management. Draft Report, Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Windhoek.

Sullivan, S. 2002. How sustainable is the communalising discourse of *inewø* conservation? The masking of difference, inequality and aspiration in the fledgling *iconservanciesø* of Namibia. In Chatty, D. & Colchester, M. (Eds.). *Conservation and mobile indigenous people: Displacement, forced settlement and sustainable development.* Oxford: Berghahn Press. 158-187.

Working, H. 1943. Statistical laws of family expenditure. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 38(221): 43-56.

Appendix Tables

Table 5: Model Results for the effects of conservancies on household welfare in Caprivi and Kunene.: 2006

	Kunene			Caprivi			
	Expenditure	Expenditure S	hare	Expenditure	Expenditure S	Share	
	per capita			per capita			
	OLS	Food	Educ.	OLS	Food	Educ.	
	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	
Highest Years of Education	0.052***	-0.012***	0.002***	0.079***	-0.014***	0.004**	
in Household	(0.018)	(0.003)	(0.000)	(0.019)	(0.004)	(0.001)	
Log Household Size	-0.712***	-0.058**	0.009*	-0.624***	-0.046**	0.023***	
	(0.084)	(0.024)	(0.004)	(0.090)	(0.016)	(0.005)	
Proportion of Female 15-60	0.162	0.024	0.003	0.083	-0.011	0.002	
	(0.256)	(0.072)	(0.010)	(0.378)	(0.087)	(0.014)	
Proportion of Male 15-60	0.220	0.019	0.001	0.194	-0.001	-0.011	
	(0.244)	(0.049)	(0.007)	(0.289)	(0.072)	(0.019)	
Household Assets	0.004**			0.011***			
in Thousand N\$	(0.002)			(0.002)			
Wildlife Damage to Crops,	0.346***	0.032	0.006	0.162*	0.006	0.003	
Livestock, and Property	(0.117)	(0.032)	(0.005)	(0.080)	(0.020)	(0.006)	
Distance to Primary School	0.003	-0.000	-0.000*	0.016	0.002	0.000	
	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.014)	(0.003)	(0.001)	
Collected Natural Resources	-0.073	0.001	-0.005	-0.139	0.039*	0.000	
except Wood	(0.082)	(0.022)	(0.005)	(0.105)	(0.019)	(0.008)	
Female Headed Household	-0.132	0.018	0.003	-0.321***	-0.018	0.003	
	(0.103)	(0.024)	(0.005)	(0.078)	(0.018)	(0.006)	
Proportion of Children 0-14	-0.074	0.002	0.028**	-0.220	0.076	-0.010	
1	(0.260)	(0.091)	(0.011)	(0.358)	(0.062)	(0.018)	
Member of a CBO	0.257**	-0.009	-0.002	-0.073	0.044	-0.017**	
	(0.101)	(0.026)	(0.005)	(0.099)	(0.042)	(0.006)	
CBO X Conservancy	· · · · ·	. ,	· /	0.280*	-0.055	0.013	
2				(0.152)	(0.049)	(0.008)	
Years of CBO Experience	0.000	-0.003	0.000		0.001	0.001*	
in Community	(0.006)	(0.002)	(0.000)		(0.002)	(0.000)	
Household Head age	0.002			0.001		(1111)	
	(0.004)			(0.004)			
Distance (Km) To Health Facility	0.001	0.000	0.000	-0.002	-0.001	0.001**	
	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.007)	(0.001)	(0.000)	
Distance to Police	-0.001	-0.001	0.000	(0.001)	(0.00-)	(0.000)	
	(0.001)	(0,000)	(0,000)				
Distance to main Road	0.002	0.001	0.000				
	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0,000)				
Age of Newest Infrastructure	0.002	(0.001)	(01000)				
rige of newest infustructure	(0.020)						
Distance to Shon	0.002**	-0.000	0.000				
Distance to shop	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0,000)				
Conservancy	0.037	0.001	0.021***	0.100	0.035	0.003	
Conservancy	(0.223)	(0.052)	(0.005)	(0.102)	(0.024)	-0.003	
Log Annual Per Canita	(0.223)	-0.062***	_0.013***	(0.102)	0.014	-0.008*	
Consumption		(0.015)	(0.004)		(0.015)	(0.004)	
Constant	8 565***	1 215***	0.072**	7 920***	0.570***	0.024	
Constant	(0.416)	(0.125)	(0.072)	(0.342)	(0.131)	(0.024	
P. Souarad	0.410)	0.12	0.020)	(0.342)	(0.151)	(0.030)	
Number of Observations	421	452	452	166	166	166	
INUMBER OF OUSEFVALIOUS	431	433	433	400	400	400	

	Kunene								
	OLS			Selection Mod	lel ¹				
	Expenditure	Food	Education	Expenditure	Partici-	Food	Partici-	Education	Partici-
	per capita	Share	share	per capita	pation	Share	pation	share	pation
	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se		coef/se		coef/se	
Conservancy Member	0.319**	0.025	0.013	1.140***		-0.033		-0.068***	
Household	(0.110)	(0.034)	(0.010)	(0.428)		(0.060)		(0.012)	
Female Headed	-0.046	0.014	0.005	-0.093	0.146	0.017	0.184	0.010	0.294
Household	(0.095)	(0.027)	(0.006)	(0.110)	(0.142)	(0.027)	(0.163)	(0.008)	(0.179)
Household Head Age	0.001	0.001	0.000	0.003	-0.006	0.001	-0.003	-0.000	-0.006
	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.001)	(0.005)	(0.000)	(0.006)
Highest Education	0.056***	-0.012**	0.003***	0.039***	0.064**	-0.011**	0.056*	0.004 ***	0.058**
in Household	(0.014)	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.015)	(0.032)	(0.004)	(0.033)	(0.001)	(0.027)
Log Household Size	-0.862***	0.000	0.002	-0.881***	-0.005	0.002	0.063	0.006	0.034
	(0.074)	(0.029)	(0.008)	(0.072)	(0.122)	(0.028)	(0.136)	(0.007)	(0.114)
Proportion of Female	0.363	-0.070	0.009	0.487*	-0.397	-0.080	-0.335	-0.003	-0.296
Aged 15-60	(0.267)	(0.079)	(0.020)	(0.295)	(0.349)	(0.074)	(0.376)	(0.020)	(0.357)
Proportion of Male	0.270	0.032	0.007	0.429	-0.649*	0.019	-0.563	-0.008	-0.516
Aged 15-60	(0.275)	(0.045)	(0.009)	(0.319)	(0.390)	(0.045)	(0.432)	(0.012)	(0.347)
Household Assets	0.017***	-0.003***	0.000	0.015***	0.005	-0.003***	0.006	0.000	0.005
In Thousand N\$	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.001)	(0.006)	(0.000)	(0.004)
Household Assets	-0.000**	0.000**	-0.000**	-0.000**	-0.000	0.000**	-0.000	-0.000**	-0.000*
Squared	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Wildlife Damage to Crops	0.233*	0.036	0.006	0.095	0.537***	0.045	0.543**	0.019**	0.443**
Livestock, Property	(0.111)	(0.033)	(0.006)	(0.120)	(0.199)	(0.033)	(0.217)	(0.008)	(0.179)
Distance to Primary	0.002	0.000	-0.000**	0.001	0.004	0.000	0.003	-0.000	-0.002
School	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.003)
Collected Nat. Resources	-0.054	-0.020	-0.005	0.019	-0.285*	-0.025	-0.313**	-0.012	-0.285*
except Wood	(0.076)	(0.020)	(0.006)	(0.099)	(0.147)	(0.022)	(0.152)	(0.008)	(0.143)
Member of a CBO	0.191***	-0.009	-0.007	0.083	0.440**	-0.001	0.434***	0.003	0.329***
	(0.053)	(0.022)	(0.006)	(0.074)	(0.179)	(0.024)	(0.157)	(0.006)	(0.115)
Years of CBO Experience	0.000	-0.001	0.000	0.002	-0.009	-0.001	-0.007	0.000	-0.002
In Community	(0.005)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.000)	(0.007)
Proportion of Children	0.152	-0.076	0.042*	0.175		-0.080		0.042**	
Aged 0-14	(0.269)	(0.081)	(0.021)	(0.254)		(0.077)		(0.019)	
Distance to Shop	0.001	-0.000	0.000	0.000	0.002	-0.000	0.003	0.000	0.003*
	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.000)	(0.002)
Distance (Km)	0.001	-0.001	0.000*	0.003	-0.009***	-0.001	-0.008***	-0.000	-0.002
To Health Facility	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.002)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.000)	(0.002)
Distance to Police	-0.002	-0.000	0.000	-0.001	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	0.000	0.001
	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.003)
Distance to Main Road	0.002	0.001	0.000	0.001	0.009	0.001	0.005	0.000	0.006
	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.005)	(0.010)	(0.001)	(0.007)	(0.000)	(0.006)
Age of Newest	0.048**	-0.011**	-0.000	0.080**	-0.149**	-0.013***	-0.173***	-0.003*	-0.137**
Infrastructure	(0.020)	(0.005)	(0.001)	(0.037)	(0.059)	(0.004)	(0.060)	(0.002)	(0.064)
Purros / Registered 2000	0.023	0.090	-0.034	-0.476	1.833***	0.125*	2.024***	0.015	1.139**
	(0.335)	(0.061)	(0.020)	(0.420)	(0.521)	(0.066)	(0.452)	(0.028)	(0.472)
Ehirovipuka/ Registered	-0.245**	0.094**	-0.009	-0.493***	1.0/0***	0.111**	1.146***	0.016*	1.012***
2001	(0.087)	(0.040)	(0.006)	(0.164)	(0.293)	(0.044)	(0.264)	(0.009)	(0.258)
Log Annual Per Capita		-0.010	-0.024***			-0.009		-0.021***	
Consumption		(0.019)	(0.005)		0.040***	(0.019)	0 57 1 ***	(0.004)	0.426**
Know when Conservancy					0.842***		0.5/4**		0.426**
Established					(0.303)		(0.247)		(0.201)
then 18 in 1007					-0.312		-0.818**		-0.446*
Constant	0 100***	0 457***	0 166***	7 027***	(0.3/6)	0 600***	0.710	0 100***	(0.221)
Constant	0.422***	(0.164)	0.100***	1.931***	0.428	0.090***	0./19	0.190***	0.270
Athrha	(0.390)	(0.104)	(0.055)	0.343)	(0.4/2)	(0.137)	(0.408)	(0.048)	(0.311)
Aulfilo				-0.707°			(0.161)		1.103***
Inciamo				(0.443)			(0.100)		(0.244)
Lusigina				-0.238**			-1.024^{***}		-2./94*** (0.117)
Number of Observation	251	251	251	251		251	(0.033)	251	(0.117)
realized of Observations	551	551	331	331		551		551	

Table 6: Model results for effect of having a member participating in conservancy, Kunene: 2006

	Caprivi								
	OLS			Selection Mod	el				
	Expenditure	Food	Education	Expenditure	Particip-	Food	Particip-	Education	Particip-
	per capita	Share	share	per capita	ation	Share	ation	share	ation
	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se	coef/se		coef/se		coef/se	
Conservancy Member	0.346***	-0.044	-0.016**	1.062***		-0.165		-0.021**	
Household	(0.081)	(0.033)	(0.007)	(0.148)		(0.205)		(0.010)	
Female Headed	-0.269***	-0.024	-0.001	-0.156*	-0.603***	-0.043	-0.603***	-0.002	-0.602***
Household	(0.098)	(0.025)	(0.009)	(0.094)	(0.196)	(0.040)	(0.196)	(0.009)	(0.196)
Household Head Age	0.001	-0.001	0.000	0.001	0.001	-0.001	0.002	0.000	0.001
	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.000)	(0.004)
Highest Years Education	0.076***	-0.014***	0.004***	0.062***	0.101***	-0.012*	0.111***	0.004***	0.105***
in Household	(0.023)	(0.005)	(0.001)	(0.021)	(0.035)	(0.006)	(0.032)	(0.001)	(0.031)
Log Household Size	-0.614***	0.010	0.026***	-0.635***	-0.016	0.013	0.023	0.026***	0.036
	(0.119)	(0.026)	(0.006)	(0.116)	(0.146)	(0.026)	(0.161)	(0.006)	(0.151)
Proportion of Female	-0.139	-0.075	0.018	-0.075	-0.162	-0.082	-0.106	0.018	-0.181
Aged 15-60	(0.471)	(0.093)	(0.024)	(0.491)	(0.617)	(0.099)	(0.734)	(0.023)	(0.758)
Proportion of Male	-0.202	-0.075	-0.006	-0.103	-0.179	-0.088	-0.094	-0.006	-0.174
Aged 15.60	(0.437)	(0.096)	(0.023)	(0.461)	(0.491)	(0.110)	(0.547)	(0.022)	(0.542)
Household Assets	0.039***	-0.005***	-0.000	0.039***	0.041**	-0.005***	0.029	-0.000	0.025
In Thousand N\$	(0.006)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.006)	(0.018)	(0.001)	(0.020)	(0.000)	(0.016)
Household Assets	-0.000***	0.000***	0.000	-0.000***	-0.001**	0.000***	-0.001*	0.000	-0.001
Squared	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Wildlife Damage Crops,	0.211***	0.000	0.009	0.183**	0.165	0.005	0.211	0.010	0.207
Livestock, and Property	(0.079)	(0.022)	(0.007)	(0.082)	(0.160)	(0.022)	(0.172)	(0.007)	(0.145)
Distance to Primary	0.018	-0.003	0.000	0.021	-0.009	-0.003	-0.013	0.000	-0.010
School	(0.017)	(0.003)	(0.001)	(0.013)	(0.024)	(0.004)	(0.026)	(0.001)	(0.027)
Pasourcas avaant Wood	-0.255	0.011	-0.000	-0.255^{**}	-0.038	0.011	(0.184)	-0.000	(0.038)
Mombar of a CBO	0.150	0.004	0.001	0.002	0.656***	0.023	0.680***	0.000	0.682***
Member of a CBO	(0.137)	(0.004)	-0.001	-0.002	(0.220)	(0.031)	(0.234)	(0.005)	(0.220)
Voors of CPO	0.005	0.002	0.000	0.003	0.010	0.003	0.010	0.003	0.014
Experience	(0.005)	(0.002)	(0,000)	(0.003)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.018)	(0,000)	(0.014)
Proportion of Children	-0.468	-0.013	0.012	-0.399	(0.018)	-0.020	(0.010)	0.012	(0.017)
Aged 0-14	(0.433)	(0.089)	(0.022)	(0.424)		(0.096)		(0.012)	
Distance to Shop	-0.000	0.001***	-0.000	0.000	-0.004	0.001**	-0.005	-0.000	-0.005
Distance to Shop,	(0.003)	(0,000)	(0,000)	(0.000)	(0.005)	(0.000)	(0.004)	(0,000)	(0.005)
Distance (Km) To Health	-0.008	0.003	0.001**	-0.016	0.042	0.005	0.045	0.001***	0.046*
Facility	(0.008)	(0,002)	(0.001)	(0.010)	(0.012)	(0.002)	(0.013)	(0.000)	(0.027)
Log Annual Per Capita	(0.000)	0.044***	-0.006	(01010)	(0.027)	0.045***	(0.020)	-0.006	(0.027)
Consumption		(0.017)	(0.006)			(0.016)		(0.005)	
Mayuni Kwandu /	-0.025	0.030	0.005	-0.160	0.895***	0.053	0.930***	0.006	0.873***
Registered 1999	(0.115)	(0.027)	(0.005)	(0.119)	(0.235)	(0.048)	(0.276)	(0.005)	(0.239)
Kasika / Registered 2004	0.271**	0.093**	0.009*	-0.051	1 440***	0.147	1 519***	0.012**	1 491***
Tablia / Tegistered 200 !	(0.135)	(0.047)	(0.005)	(0.136)	(0.237)	(0.111)	(0.241)	(0.005)	(0.238)
HH Knows Year	()		(1111)		0.582***		0.409	(1111)	0.532**
Conservancy Established					(0.215)		(0.325)		(0.209)
Household Head older					-0.031		-0.274		-0.182
than 18 in 1997					(0.238)		(0.306)		(0.291)
Constant	7.927***	0.381**	-0.032	7.975***	-2.639***	0.357**	-2.730***	-0.034	-2.694***
	(0.427)	(0.176)	(0.068)	(0.472)	(0.715)	(0.168)	(0.757)	(0.066)	(0.747)
Athrho	,			-0.600***			0.411		0.062
				(0.120)			(0.704)		(0.098)
Lnsigma				-0.211***			-1.682***		-2.938***
-				(0.053)			(0.103)		(0.124)
Number of Observations	351	351	351	351		351		351	

Table 7: Model results for effect of having a member participating in conservancy, Caprivi: 2006

DIRECTORATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

Research Discussion Papers available in this series

- 1. Ashley, C. 1994. Population growth and renewable resource management: The challenge of sustaining people and the environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 1. 40 pp.
- 2. Ashley, C, Barnes, J and Healy, T. 1994. Profits, equity, growth and sustainability: The potential role of wildlife enterprises in Caprivi and other communal areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 2. 25 pp.
- 3. Quan, J, Barton, D and Conroy, C (Ashley, C, ed.). 1994. A preliminary assessment of the economic impact of desertification in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 3. 150 pp.
 - a. Northern commercial areas: Okahandja, Otjiwarongo and Grootfontein. 33 pp.
 - b. Communal and commercial areas of southern Namibia. 42 pp.
 - c. Northern communal areas: Uukwaluudhi. 35 pp.
- 4. Ashley, C and Garland, E. 1994. Promoting community-based tourism development: Why, what and how?. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 4. 37 pp.
- 5. Jones, BTB. 1995. Wildlife management, utilisation and tourism in communal areas: Benefits to communities and improved resource management. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 5. 37 pp.
- 6. Barnes, JI. 1995. The value of non-agricultural land use in some Namibian communal areas: A data base for planning. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 6. 21 pp.
- 7. Ashley, C, Müller, H and Harris, M. 1995. Population dynamics, the environment and demand for water and energy in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 7. 37 pp.
- 8. Barnes, JI and de Jager, JLV. 1995. Economic and financial incentives for wildlife use on private land in Namibia and the implications for policy. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 8. 21 pp.
- 9. Rodwell, TC, Tagg, J and Grobler, M. 1995. Wildlife resources in Caprivi, Namibia: The results of an aerial census in 1994 and comparisons with past surveys. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 9. 29 pp.
- 10. Ashley, C. 1995. Tourism, communities and the potential impacts on local incomes and conservation. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 10. 51 pp.
- 11. Jones, BTB. 1996. Institutional relationships, capacity and sustainability: Lessons learned from a community-based conservation project, eastern Tsumkwe District, Namibia, 1991696. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 11. 43 pp.
- 12. Ashley, C and Barnes, JI. 1996. Wildlife use for economic gain: The potential for wildlife to contribute to development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 12. 23 pp.
- 13. Ashley, C. 1996. Incentives affecting biodiversity conservation and sustainable use: The case of land use options in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 13. 21 pp.

- 14. Jarvis, AM and Robertson, A. 1997. Endemic birds of Namibia: Evaluating their status and mapping biodiversity hotspots. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 14. 103 pp.
- 15. Barnes, JI, Schier, C and van Rooy, G. 1997. Touristsø willingness to pay for wildlife viewing and wildlife conservation in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 15. 24 pp.
- 16. Ashley, C, Barnes, JI, Brown, CJ and Jones, BTB. 1997. Using resource economics for natural resource management: Namibiaøs experience. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 16. 23 pp.
- 17. Lange, GM, Barnes, JI and Motinga, DJ. 1997. Cattle numbers, biomass, productivity and land degradation in the commercial farming sector of Namibia, 1915 to 1995. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 17. 28 pp.
- 18. Lange, GM. 1997. An approach to sustainable water management using natural resource accounts: The use of water, the economic value of water and implications for policy. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 18. 39 pp.
- Lange, GM and Motinga, DJ. 1997. The contribution of resource rents from minerals and fisheries to sustainable economic development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 19. 32 pp.
- 20. Ashley, C and LaFranchi, C. 1997. Livelihood strategies of rural households in Caprivi: Implications for conservancies and natural resource management. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 20. 96 pp.
- 21. Byers, BA (Roberts, CS, ed.). 1997. Environmental threats and opportunities in Namibia: A comprehensive assessment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 21. 65 pp.
- 22. Day, JA (Barnard, P, ed.). 1997. The status of freshwater resources in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 22. 46 pp.
- 23. OøToole, MJ (Barnard, P, ed.). 1997. Marine environmental threats in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 23. 48 pp.
- 24. Jones, BTB. 1997. Parks and resident peoples. Linking Namibian protected areas with local communities. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 24. 39 pp.
- 25. Environmental Evaluation Unit, University of Cape Town (Tarr, JG, ed.). 1998. Summary report of a retrospective study of the environmental impacts of emergency borehole supply in the Gam and Khorixas areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 25. 27 pp.
- 26. Auer, C. 1998. Water availability and chemical water quality as important factors for sustainable wildlife management in the Etosha National Park and for domestic stock in farming areas of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 26. 30 pp.
- 27. Barnes, JI. 1998. Wildlife conservation and utilisation as complements to agriculture in southern African development. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 27. 18 pp.

- 28. Blackie, R and Tarr, P. 1999. Government policies on sustainable development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 28. 21 pp.
- 29. Blackie, R. 1999. Communities and natural resources: Trends in equitable and efficient use. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 29. 20 pp.
- 30. Tarr, P. 2000. Knowledge, opinions and attitudes regarding Environmental Assessment in Namibia: Results of a national survey conducted in 1997. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 30. 20 pp.
- 31. Simmons, RE, Barnes, KN, Jarvis, AM and Robertson, A. 1999. Important bird areas in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 31. 66 pp.
- Environmental and Geographical Science Masters Students, University of Cape Town (Blackie, R, ed.). 1999. A preliminary environmental assessment of Namibiaøs resettlement programme. DEA Research Discussion Paper 32, 29 pp.
- 33. Robertson, A and Jarvis, AM. 1999. Bird data in Namibia: A model for biodiversity information system development. Avifaunal database user manual. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 33. 122 pp.
- 34. Tarr, P and Figueira, M. 1999. Namibiaøs Environmental Assessment framework: The evolution of policy and practice. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 34. 20 pp.
- 35. Margules, CR (Barnard, P, ed.). 1999. Biodiversity planning and monitoring in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 35. 27 pp.
- 36. Nghileendele, NP and Uisso, V. 1999. The state of Namibiaøs freshwater environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 36. [In print].
- 37. Nghileendele, NP and Uisso, V. 1999. The state of Namibiaøs socio-economic environment. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 37. [In print].
- 38. McGann, JA. 1999. The Environmental Investment Fund: An initiative for the conservation and protection of the environmental and natural resource base of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 38. 57 pp.
- 39. McGann, JA. 1999. Towards the establishment of the Environmental Investment Fund: Opportunities, constraints, and lessons learned. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 39. 47 pp.
- 40. Jones, BTB and Mosimane, A. 2000. Empowering communities to manage natural resources: Where does the new power lie? Case studies from Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 40. 32 pp.
- 41. Corbett, A and Jones, BTB. 2000. The legal aspects of governance in CBNRM in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 41. 25 pp.

- 42. Barnes, JI, MacGregor, J and Weaver, LC. 2001. Economic analysis of community wildlife use initiatives in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 42. 20 pp.
- 43. Poonyth, D, Barnes, JI, Suich, H and Monamati, M. 2001. Satellite and resource accounting as tools for tourism planning in southern Africa. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 43. 21 pp.
- 44. Suich, H. 2001. Development of preliminary tourism satellite accounts for Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 44. 20 pp.
- 45. Krug, W, Suich, H and Haimbodi, N. 2002. Park pricing and economic efficiency in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 45. 31 pp.
- 46. Krugman, H. 2001. Fundamental issues and the threats to sustainable development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 46. 50 pp.
- 47. Humavindu, MN. 2002. An econometric analysis of fixed investment in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 47. 22 pp.
- 48. Suich, H and Murphy, C. 2002. Crafty women: The livelihood impact of craft income in Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 48. 31 pp.
- 49. Humavindu, MN. 2002. Economics without markets: Policy inferences from nature-based tourism studies in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 49. 23 pp.
- 50. Barnes, JI, Zeybrandt, F, Kirchner, CH and Sakko, AL. 2002. The economic value of Namibiaøs recreational shore fishery: A review. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 50. 21 pp.
- 51. Purvis, J. 2002. Postharvest fisheries on the eastern floodplains, Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 51. 29 pp.
- 52. Purvis, J. 2002. Fish and livelihoods: Fisheries on the eastern floodplains, Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 52. 44 pp.
- 53. Long, SA. 2002. Disentangling benefits: Livelihoods, natural resource management and managing revenue from tourism. The experience of the Torra Conservancy, Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 53. 22 pp.
- 54. Lange, G-M. 2003. The contribution of minerals to sustainable economic development: Mineral resource accounts in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 54. 29 pp.
- 55. Lange, G-M. 2003. The value of Namibiaøs commercial fisheries. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 55. 19 pp.
- 56. Lange, G-M. 2003. National wealth, natural capital and sustainable development in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 56. 15 pp.

- 57. Murphy, C and Suich, H. 2003. Mashi Craft Market 6 Crafts and livelihoods in Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 57. 29 pp.
- 58. Abbott, J with Hay, C, Kalonga, M, Naesje, T and Purvis, J. 2003. The 2002 joint frame survey of fisheries of the Upper Zambezi River (Namibia/Zambia). *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 58. 39 pp.
- 59. Mulonga, S, Suich, H and Murphy, C. 2003. The conflict continues: Human wildlife conflict and livelihoods in Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 59. 29 pp.
- 60. Halstead, L. 2003. Making community-based tourism work: An assessment of factors contributing to successful community-owned tourism development in Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 60. 35 pp.
- 61. Murphy, C and Halstead, L. 2003. õThe person with the idea for the campsite is a heroö: Institutional arrangements and livelihood change of community-owned tourism enterprises in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 61. 42 pp.
- 62. Mulonga, S. 2003. Wild food: Use of natural resources for food in eastern Caprivi. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 62. 41 pp.
- 63. Mulonga, S and Murphy, C. 2003. Spending the money: The experience of conservancy benefit distribution in Namibia up to mid-2003. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 63. 27 pp.
- 64. Murphy, C. 2003. Community tourism in Kunene: A review of five case studies for the WILD Project. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 64. 27 pp.
- 65. Li, BML and Vaughan, C. 2003. Social relations and water management: The impact of community-based water management in the *‡*Khoadi //Hôas Conservancy of north-west Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 65. 23 pp.
- 66. Krugmann, H, Cole, D and du Plessis, P. 2003. Access and benefit-sharing mechanisms for the use of botanical resources in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 66. 52 pp.
- 67. Schiffer, E. 2004. How does community-based natural resource management in Namibia change the distribution of power and influence? Preliminary findings. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 67. 43 pp.
- 68. Bandyopadhyay, S, Shyamsundar, P, Wang, L and Humavindu, MN. 2004. Do households gain from community-based natural resource management? An evaluation of community conservancies in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 68. 21 pp.
- 69. Sutton, WR, Larson, DM and Jarvis, LS. 2004. A new approach to assessing the costs of living with wildlife in developing countries. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 69. 21 pp.
- 70. Barnes, JI, Nhuleipo, O, Muteyauli, PI and MacGregor, J. 2005. Preliminary economic asset and flow accounts for forest resources in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 70. 20 pp.

- 71. Kirchner, CH and Stage, J. 2005. An economic comparison of the commercial and recreational line fisheries in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 71. 14 pp.
- 72. Fleermuys, FN. 2005. The balance of payment as a monetary phenomenon: An econometric study of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 72. 27 pp.
- 73. Turpie, J, Lange, G-M, Martin, R, Davies, R and Barnes, J. 2005. Namibiaøs protected areas: Their economic worth and the feasibility of their financing. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 73. 22 pp.
- 74. Samuelsson, E and Stage, J. 2006. The size and distribution of the economic impacts of Namibian hunting tourism. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 74. 13 pp.
- 75. Humavindu, MN and Barnes, JI. 2006. The identification and the quantification of *:*best practiceø in innovative financing for biodiversity conservation and sustainable use in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 75. 25 pp.
- 76. Ministry of Environment and Tourism and Ministry of Lands and Resettlement. 2007. Namibia: Land use planning and environmental sustainability 6 Contributions to an analytical framework for sustainable land management. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 76. 95 pp.
- 77. Alberts, M. and Barnes, JI. 2008. Sustainable tourism options for the coastal zone of Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 77. 26 pp.
- 78. Barnes, JI and Alberts, M. 2008. Sustainable natural resource use on the coast of Namibia. *DEA Research Paper* 78. 32 pp.
- 79. Barnes, JI, Nhuleipo, O, Baker, AC, Muteyauli, PI and Shigwedha, V. 2009. Wildlife resource accounts for Namibia, 2004. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 79. 26 pp.
- 80. Baker, AC, Muteyauli, PI, Shigwedha, V and Sweeney, LF. 2009. Domestic tourism in Namibia: The results of a 2006/7 survey. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 80. 35pp.
- 81. Indongo, N, Sweeney, LF, Baker, AC, Muteyauli, PI and Nhuleipo, O. 2010. Community-based natural resource management in Namibia: Results of a 2006 household survey. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 81. 62pp.
- 82. Bandyopadhyay, S, Guzman, JC and Lendelvo, S. 2010. Communal conservancies and household welfare in Namibia. *DEA Research Discussion Paper* 82. 23pp.